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December 6, 2023

Ms. Johanna Barba Jones, Director

Office of Attorney Ethics
Mountainview Office Park

840 Bear Tavern Road

Ewing, New Jersey 08628

Dear Director Jones:

In accordance with the enclosed Court Order, I hereby submit the enclosed detailed

information regarding potential ethics violations ofBedminster attorney Alina Habba. Also

enclosed is a New Jersey Law Journal editorial regarding other potential ethical violations.

Very truly yours,

^
NANCY ERIKA SMITH
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are works in. progress, but the time has come to address these sion to both the bar and bench.

The Prejudicial Impact of
Attorney Comments

uring a break m Ae civil fraud trial of the Trump
I Organization, Donald Trump, Donald Trump Jr. and Eric
Trump, one of the defense lawyers issued a broadside

attack on the judge and the court. Alina Habba, whose primary
office is in New Jersey, said that the judge was "unhinged" that
the trial represented "the demise of [the] American judicial sys-
tem and democracy," and referred to "conuption in courtrooms"
while gesturing to the courthouse behind her. "I was told to sit
down," Ms. Habba declared, "I don't tolerate that in my life and
I'm not gomg to tolerate it here." She asserted that the court's

partial summary judgment order somehow represented a refusal
to hear evidence. Other Trump defense attorneys have attacked
the judge for the very standard practice of conferring with his
law clerk during the proceedings.

Ms. Habba's comments are certainly an embarrassment to
our profession, unseemly, inappropriate and unprofessional.
They send an inaccurate and incendiary depiction ofourjudi-
ciary to the public. But are they an ethics violation?

In Matter of Hinds, 90 N.J. 604, 622-23, 449 A.2d 483,
493-94 (1982), our Supreme Court considered the interplay
of free speech rights of attorneys and Ae integrity of the judi-
cial process, and confirmed the right of attorneys to speak
out so long as their words do not present a substantial likeli-
hood of materially prejudicing the trial. "Contrary to Hinds'
assertions, the reasonable likelihood standard is susceptible
of objective measurement. It is expressed in straightforward

language, in terminology that is commonly and frequently
used in communications. Younger, 30 Cal.App.3d at 163-64,
106 CaiRptr. at 241-42. Whether a particular utterance cre-
ates a reasonable likelihood of affecting trial fairness will
depend upon the special circumstances of each case. This
inquiry involves a careful balancing and consideration of all
relevant factors. Cf. Landmark, 435 U.S. at 842^3, 98 S.Ct.
at 1543-1544, 56 L.Ed.2d at 13 (such balancing required
in a "free press" situation). These factors can,include,such, ,

matters as the nature of the statement, tfae timing of the
statement, the extent to which the information has been
publicized, the nature of the proceeding and its vubierability
to prejudicial influence, the attorney's status in the case, the
lawyer's unique position as aa informed and accurate source
of information in the case, and the effect of um-estncted

comment on the interest of the litigants and the integrity of
the proceeding.4 See Note, 'A Constitutional Assessment
of Court Rules Restricting Lawyer Comment on Pending
Litigation,' 65 ComellL.Rev. 1106, 1120-21 (1980); Model
Rules 1981, supra at 275-76"

Since the Tmmp fraud trial is non-jury, several of the fac-
tors set forth in Hinds faU m favor of Habba's right to express
incendiary and misleading statements. Presumably the judge
will not be influenced, and the integrity of the proceedings
will not be impacted, though newspapers have already noted
that following complaints from defense lawyers, the judge
has significantly decreased his conferences with his clerk.
On the other hand, the Habba statements have been highly
publicized, and even if they do not influence the judge, they
have an outsized impact on the public's perception of the
fairness and integrity of our judicial system. Should a lawyer,
licensed by the state, have a right to inaccurately and unfairly
convince the public that we have a corrupt and unfair judicial
system? We hope not.

Whether or not this conduct rises to the level of a viola-
tion of a specific Rule of Professional Responsibility, we
are seriously concerned. In a time when our institutions are
under attack from all sides, in a trial where the whole world
is watching, attorney comments that baselessly claun cor-
ruption, grossly mischaracterize standard court proceedings,
demomze a judge and his staff, and falsely convince a broad
swath of the public that our judicial system cannot be trusted
could do serious injury to our judicial system.
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SMITH MULLIN, PC
Nancy Erika Smith, Esq.
(NJ Attorney ID # 027231980)
240 Claremont Avenue
Montclair, New Jersey 07042
Phone: (973)783-7607
Fax: (973) 763-7607
Attorneys for Plaintiff, Alice Bianco

ALICE BIANCO,
Plaintiff,

V.

-x SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: MIDDLESEX COUNTY
DOCKET NO.:

Civil Action

VERIFIED COMPLAINT

LAMINGTON FARM CLUB, d/b/a
TRUMP NATIONAL GOLF CLUB
BEDMINSTER,

Defendant.

Plaintiff Alice Bianco alleges the following;

NATURE OF THIS ACTION.

1. Plaintiff brings this action to remedy violations of the New Jersey Law Against

Discrimination, N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq., and to bring claims of common law fraud.

PARTIES

2. Plaintiff Alice Bianco is a citizen and resident of New Jersey, residing in Middlesex

County, NJ at all times relevant to this Complaint.

3, During all times relevant to this cause of action. Plaintiff was employed by Trump

National Golf Club in Bedminster New Jersey, at 900 Lamington Road, Bedminster, NJ

07921,

4. Defendant Lamington Farm Club is an LLC that owns Trump National Golf Club in

Bedminster New Jersey. Donald Trump owns Lamington Farm Club.

1
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VENUE

5. Venue is proper pursuant to Rule 4:3-2 because Plaintiff resides in Middlesex

County.

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

6. Plaintiff Alice Bianco began employment as a server at Trump National Golf Club in

Bedminster New Jersey on May 12,2021, when she was 21 years old.

7, Trump National Golf Club is owned by defendant LLC Lamington Farm Club.

8. Soon after she began work, Pavel Melichar, the food and beverage manager, began to

sexually harass Plaintiff.

9. Mr. Melichar, who is in his mid-50's, gave Plaintiff very short uniform skirts to wear,

He also presented Ms. Bianco with a bottle ofRemy Martin claiming it was a "birthday

present" a few weeks after she began employment with defendant.

10, Shortly thereafter, Melichar called Plaintiff into his office and told her that he would

"protect her," asking "what she was going to do for him" as he forcibly kissed her.

11. After the unwelcome kiss, Melichar began to repeatedly tell Plaintiff to come to his

office. Plaintiff attempted to avoid his advances, telling him that she would come in later and

then "forget" or she would ask friends to call her while she was in his office to interrupt his

advances.

12. Sometimes Melichar insisted that Plaintiff sit on his couch and stopped her from

picking up her phone when it rang. On other times he told her to answer but to say "I'm

busy."

13. Melichar had control over Plaintiffs workplace, and made it clear to her that he

could make her life easy or hard.
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14. In or about May 2021, Melichar began to require Plaintiff to engage in sex as a quid.

pro quo for continued employment and "protection", as he called it,

15. Melichar told Plaintiff that he could do what he wanted because he "runs this place."

He also showed Plaintiff videos of Donald Trump praising hun, indicating his closeness to

Donald Trump, so that she knew he was powerful.

16. From May to July 2021 this quid pro quo sexual harassment continued.

17. In July, Plaintiff learned that a close friend had committed suicide. Plaintiff took a

week off to go to Alabama for the funeral. When she returned to work, Plaintiff told Mr.

Melichar that she appreciated the week off. He replied, "what are you going to do for me?"

and pulled her face towards his. Plaintiff could not take his forced sexual assaults any longer

and pulled away saying: "I don't want you! I never wanted you! Get away from me!" Mr.

Melichar coldly told her to go to work. Melichar immediately began retaliating against her,

giving Plaintiff unfair job assignments and allowing his henchmen to abuse her and steal her

tips.

18. In July, Plaintiff learned that another female worker at Trump National Golf Club was

planning to complain in writing about Mr. Melichar's sexual harassment, Plaintiff told her

co-worker about the harassment she had also endured. Her co-worker wrote a letter the co-

worker said she would give to a member of Donald Trump's personal staff. The letter was

dated July 19, 2021.

19. Plaintiffs coworker's letter described a toxic and sexist work environment, stating in

part, "I am asking for your support in taking action against some of the issues that have been

reoccun'ing. A few of my concerns are that as a result of poor managing from higher

management, there has been multiple occurrences of sexual harassment from Pavel Melichar,
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as well as this job has become a hostile work environment, Pavel has forced a female server

to perform sexual actions -with him, and covering it up by stating that he was protecting her,

while paying her and giving her gifts to remain silent. Not only this, Pavel [Melichar] makes

many of the other female servers feel uncomfortable due to comments about their

appearances. I have presented many of these issues, along with others to Pavel [Melichar]

and Dave Schutzenhofer [the General Manager of the club], and little to no action has been

taken," (Italics added),

20. Soon after the letter was delivered, a Trump Human Resources Officer called

Plaintiff. Plaintiff decided to get legal counsel and hired an experienced employment lawyer,

21, Soon after, on July 28th, 2021, Alina Habba [married surname Reuben], a lawyer who

is a member of the club, approached Plaintiff while she was serving during a morning shift on

the patio in the clubhouse. Ms, Bianco had waited on Ms. Habba at the club before, so she

knew her. She also had seen Ms. Habba sit with Donald Trump at dinner at the club on a

number of occasions.

22. Ms. Habba told Plaintiff that she "had heard" about what was going on and wanted to

"help her". Ms. Habba acted as if Ms. Bianco was her friend and that she [Habba] was very

concerned about Plaintiff. Plaintiff told Ms. Habba the name of her lawyer. Rather than comply

with the Rules of Professional Conduct ("R.P.C"), specifically the prohibition on

coramunicating with a person who is represented by counsel about the subject of the

representation while actively working on behalf of the interests of an adverse party, Habba

encouraged Plaintiff to fire her lawyer, saying: "you know you can fire [Plaintiffs lawyer at

the time], right?"
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23. Ms. Habba claimed to be completely "neutral", told Plaintiff that she would "help her,"

and asked for Ms. Bianco's phone number.

24. Ms. Habba texted Plaintiff for the first time later that afternoon, saying, "Hi love! Its

Alina I wanted to check on u." Habba then gave Plaintiff the address of her law firm and texted

her heart emojis.

25. Later that same day, Ms. Habba texted Plaintiff a disparaging post about Ms. Bianco''s

attorney. Under the link Ms. Habba wrote, "Is this the guy? Be careful." Plaintiff responded,

"Omg ur so quick I literally didn't even think to look this up."

26. Ms, Habba fomented distrust between Plaintiff and her lawyer, advising Ms. Bianco

that she should simply ignore her lawyers' texts, emails and calls. Ultimately Plaintiffs

relationship with her attorney was poisoned and she was left with no legal representation, as

Ms. Habba wanted.

27. On August 5, 2021, Ms. Habba called Plaintiff during her shift asking to see her on her

break. When Plaintiff explained that they didn't get breaks, they only got a 15-minute lunch

break in a 16-hour shift, Ms. Habba told Ms. Bianco to meet in Ms. Habba's car in the parking

lot. Ms. Habba, indicating her power at the defendant club, told Plaintiff that she would talk to

David Schutzenhofer, the General Manager of the Bedminster Club, if Plaintiff got in trouble

for leaving the club during her shift.

28, On August 5th, 2021, Ms. Bianco and Ms. Habba met in Ms, Habba's matte black G-

wagon in the parking lot of the Trump Bedminster club. Before the meeting Ms. Habba texted

Plaintiff, "I'm on my way. I'll meet you in the parking lot. Just find my car".

29. When they met in the Ms. Habba's car, Habba knew all about Plaintiffs claims and

alluded to facts that could be used to publicly embarrass Plaintiff, saying "you don't want to
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go public with this, I've been raped, I can help you, I can protect you." Ms. Habba told Plaintiff

that "attorneys want to take control from you" and that "with your past- maybe you can get [a

paltry sum]." Ms. Habba said that all Ms. Bianco would have to do was sign a "simple" NDA

and Habba would make sure that Plaintiff was "protected". There was never any indication

that Ms. Habba attempted to negotiate on behalf of Ms. Bianco beyond the original paltry sum

that Ms. Habba suggested from the beginning.

30. On August 6, 2021, Plaintiff texted Ms. Habba, "hit! I'm at work rn I just wanted to

update you I did exactly what you said nothing Imfao and the lawyer texted me this morning

and fired me?? LMFAO I don't get it but whatever." Ms. Habba texted back, "Ok in mtg!."

Later that night Habba texted Ms. Bianco a video of Ms. Bianco singing on the stage on the

patio at the club. Plaintiff replied with a video ofHabba singing at the club.

31. During the next couple days, Ms. Habba continued the process of grooming Plaintiff,

pretending that they were friends, calling and texting her, stating that she only wanted to help

her "two really good friends," meaning Ms. Bianco and Donald Trump.

32, On August 11, 2021, Ms. Habba told Plaintiff to come to Ms. Habba's Bedminster law

office to sign a Settlement Release with the Lamington Farm Club. Ms. Habba's law firm

drafted tihe Agreement. At 2:58 PM that day Ms. Bianco texted Ms. Habba "hiii I'm like 10

mins away!! sorry for running late I took a wrong turn [crying emqji]." Ms. Habba texted back,

"No worries im Here. In gym clothes loo." When Ms. Bianco got to the office Ms. Habba was

there, as was her law partner IVTichel T. Madaio. At some point during the signing, Madaio

asked Habba if Plaintiff s former lawyer was entitled to any portion of the settlement. Habba

replied: "It's a severance Agreement- he doesn't get anything. Because I'm a great lawyer."
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33. Before Ms. Bianco signed the Agreement, Ms. Habba told her the settlement would be

tax free. Ms. Habba told Plaintiff, "technically you're actually getting [the full amount of the

settlement] because they'll pay the taxes." Additionally, Ms. Habba told Plaintiff that she was

going to get her therapy paid for as part of the deal. That never happened. Habba told Plaintiff

that she would have to "abide by the NDA" in the Agreement and "as long as you don't talk to

anybody about this you'll be fine." Plaintiff never saw a draft of the Agreement before she

signed it.

34. Plaintiff signed the Agreement at Habba's law office. Even then, after the signing,

Habba did not provide Plaintiff with a copy of the Agreement. After Plaintiff signed, Habba

told Plaintiff that she (Bianco) better not try to sell her story to the media because she would

owe Trump the settlement proceeds and the media would only pay about $3000.

35. On August 18, 2021 Ms. Bianco picked up her check from Ms. Habba's law office.

36. Weeks later, in September, 2021, it became public that had Trump replaced one of his

best-hiown lawyers. Marc E. Kasowitz, with Alina Habba in one of his many lawsuits. Habba

has gone on to publicly represent Donald Trump in other lawsuits as well,

37. From July 28th to August 11th, 2021, Ms, Habba worked secretly to help defendant and

Donald Trump, by pretending to act as a "neutral" "friend" to Plaintiff. Ms, Habba fraudulently

induced Ms. Bianco to agree to a paltry settlement for a quid pro quo sexual harassment case

and included in the Settlement Agreement drafted by her law firm illegal terms that violate

New Jersey law about non-disclosure.

38. Acting secretly on behalf of defendant and Donald Tmmp, Habba pressured Plaintiff,

who was unrepresented by counsel, to sign a Settlement Agreement with a paltry payment and
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an illegal NDA by saying "you have to do this now" and telling her to sign the Agreement right

away.

39. While fraudulently inducmg Plaintiff to quickly agree to unconscionable and illegal

terms, Ms. Habba wanted to control Plaintiff. Habba told Plaintiff not to have any other

attorney look at it, saying "I'm tiyiug to help you, you are going to make it more difficult,"

40. The Settlement Agreement that Ms. Habba presented Plaintiff includes a clause that

violates N.J.S.A, 10:5-12.8 by prohibiting Plaintiff from discussing the underlying facts of the

sexual harassment and completely fails to include language required by the law.

41. Most outrageously, in the Agreement Habba presented to Plaintiff, the penalty for

engaging in behavior protected by New Jersey law is forfeiture of the entire amount of the

settlement and SlQOO^eLday. (Smith Cert., Ex. C) (Agreement, f 9).

42. While representing the interests of Donald Trump, Ms. Habba defrauded Plaintiff into

signing an Agreement drafted by her and/or someone at her law firm. David Schutzenhofer

signed on behalf of the club. Habba's law partner Michael Madaio notarized the Settlement

Agreement. The Agreement falsely and cynically stated: "The Parties acknowledge that neither

party was represented by counsel and that this Agreement was prepared by a neutral attorney

representing neither party." (Agreement, f 10),

43, Although Ms, Habba had told Plaintiff that the settlement would be tax free and that

Ms. Bianco would walk away with the full amount, as the time to file taxes approached it soon

became clear that Habba had lied.

44. On April 10, 2022, nearing the time to file her taxes, Plaintiff texted Ms. Habba saying,

"I really appreciate everything you have done for me thus far and I hate to bother you but

there's a few additional information [sic] he [Plaintiffs uncle, a CPA] needs I thought were
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answered. If you can call him to clear everything I'd really appreciate it and again I am so

grateful for everything you've helped me with already I feel so bad bothering you at the recital

so you can deal with this tomorrow when you have the chance,"

45. Ms. Habba responded by saying, for the first time, "I can't technically give u legal

advice." (Emphasis added.) Habba texted this to Plaintiff, after

(1) speaking to Plaintiff about the subject matter of another lawyer's representation
while representing defendant's interests;

(2) encouraging Plaintiff to fire her lawyer;

(3) negotiating an Agreement grossly favorable to defendant and Donald Trump
while pretending to be "neutral";

(4) telling Plaintiff not to have an attorney look at the Agreement Habba's firm had
drafted;

(5) telling Plaintiff the paltry amount being paid was "a good deal", and;

(6) advising Plaintiff to abide by the illegal NDA and "as long as you don't talk to
anybody about [it] you'll be fine."

46. What Ms. Habba really meant by saying, "I can't technically give u legal advice" was

that she was now done with Plaintiff. Habba didn't need to text heart emojis anymore, she had

accomplished her goal of protecting Donald Trump and of silencing Ms. Bianco.

47. Ms. Habba went on to write, "I was happy to find out how m- check was processed but

beyond that im not sure i can assist." Ms. Bianco replied, "That's the thing he needs to figure

out." Ms, Habba responded, "Oh they said payroll. Through payroll. And they paid tax on it

so you netted [the full settlement amount]." (Underline added.) Ms. Bianco replied, "All the

tax?" Ms, Habba responded, "Like payroll. So however that was processed for u. Same." Ms.

Bianco responded., "Okay, I might have misunderstood. I still have to pay taxes on this,"
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48. On April 14, 2022, Plaintiff again texted Ms. Habba saying, "Hii, hope all is well! I

have to talk to you tomorrow but can I FaceTime you?? I'm on a boat lol there's no service!!"

Ms. Habba did not respond to this text.

49. The following day, April 15, 2022, Plaintiff texted Ms. Habba again, saying, "Hii, is it

possible I can FaceTime you real quick!?" Ms. Habba responded, "I really cant give legal

advice." Ms. Bianco replied, "It's not about legal advice" and went on to say, "I'll just text it,

it was my understanding the taxes were paid but they aren't. Nick zeirkel isn't answering my

emails, I've contacted a few times and no response and I need to get this info cleared by today.

I just want you to call them one more time and confirm the taxes are paid because they deducted

social security and Medicare but I'm still having to pay federal taxes and all the other withholds

on the taxes". Ms. Habba responded, "Yes def something i cant answer[.] And dont know

fmnkly[.] U have to ask payroll[.] They know[.] I have no clue[.]" Ms. Bianco responded,

"They are not communicating thats the thing[.] I've emailed and called and no response[.] And

today's the deadline". Ms. Habba responded, "Monday [.]! 5th [.]I1 ask them to respond[.]"

50. Ms, Habba lied to Ms. Bianco. Plaintiff did have to pay taxes on her settlement.

51. Habba made clear that she was done with Plaintiff, Plaintiff also learned that Habba

was now publicly representing Donald Trump to the detriment of other women. Plaintiff was

outraged to learn that Habba had defrauded Plaintiff in order to silence her on behalf of Trump.

52. On April 26, 2022, Plaintiff texted Ms. Habba to get a copy of the Agreement, Ms.

Habba texted back the email ofRandee Ingram, the Chief Administrative Officer at Habba's

law firm. Plaintiff corresponded with Ingram and finally received a copy of the Settlement

Agreement on April 28, over 8 months after signing the Agreement at Ms. Habba's law office.

10
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53. Ms. Habba fraudulently induced Ms. Bianco to give up her rights and to enter into a

settlement which is illegal and unconscionable. Eveiy day that Ms. Bianco is afraid to speak

about her harassment for fear ofdraconian and illegal penalties violates her rights.

54. In conducting her fraud on behalf of defendant and Donald Trump, Habba violated the

following rules of professional conduct:

(A) R.P.C. 1.2 (d) " A lawyer shall not counsel or assist a client in conduct that the lawyer
luiows is illegal, criminal or fraudulent, or in the preparation of a written instrument containing
terms the lawyer knows are expressly prohibited by law, but a lawyer may counsel or assist a
client in a good faith effort to determine the validity, scope, meaning or application of the law."

(B) R.P.C. 1.7 (a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a
client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of
interest exists if:

(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be
materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client, or
a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer.

(C) R.P.C. 1.8 (b) Except as permitted or required by these rules, a lawyer shall not use
information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the
client after full disclosure and consultation, gives mfonned consent.

R.P.C. 1.18 (a) A lawyer who has had discussions in consultation with a prospective
client shall not use or reveal information acquired in the consultation, even when no client-
lawyer relationship ensues, except as RFC 1.9 would permit in respect of information of a
former client.

(b) A lawyer subject to paragraph (a) shall not represent a client with interests
materially adverse to those of a former prospective client in the same or a
substantially related matter if the lawyer received information from the former
prospective client that could be significantly harmful to that person in the matter,
except as provided in paragraph (c).

11
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(d) A person who discusses with a lawyer the possibility of forming a client-
lawyer relationship with respect to a matter is a "prospective client," and if no client-
lawyer relationship is formed, is a "former prospective client."

(E) R.P.C. 4.1 (a) In representing a client a lawyer shall not knowingly:

(1) make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person; or

(2) fail to disclose a material fact to a third person when disclosure is
necessary to avoid assisting a criminal or fraudulent act by a client.

(F) R.P.C. 4.2 In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject
of the representation with a person the lawyer knows, or by the exercise of reasonable
diligence should know, to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, including members
of an organization's litigation control group as defined by RFC 1.13, unless the lawyer has
the consent of the other lawyer, or is authorized by law or court order to do so, or unless the
sole purpose of the communication is to ascertain whether the person is in fact represented,
Reasonable diligence shall include, but not be limited to, a specific inquiry of the person as to
whether that person is represented by counsel. Nothing in this rule shall, however, preclude a
lawyer from counseling or representing a member or former member of an organization's
litigation control group who seeks independent legal advice.

(G) R.P.C. 4.3 In dealing on behalf of a client with a person who is not represented by
counsel, a lawyer shall not state or imply that the lawyer is disinterested. When the lawyer
knows or reasonably should know that the unrepresented person misunderstands the lawyer's
role in the matter, the lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to correct the misunderstanding,

(H) R.P.C. 7.1 (a) A lawyer shall not make false or misleading communications about
the lawyer, the lawyer's services, or any matter in which the lawyer has or seeks a
professional involvement. A communication is false or misleading if it:

(1) contains a material misrepresentation of fact or law, or omits a fact
necessary to make the statement considered as a whole not materially
misleading;

(2) is likely to create an unjustified expectation about results the lawyer can
achieve, or states or implies that the lawyer can achieve results by means that

(I) R.P.C. 8.4: It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation;

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

12
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WHEREFORE, cause having been shown, Plaintiff demands judgment against

defendant and seeks the following relief:

(a) a permanent injunction enjoining defendant from attempting to enforce the
Settlement Agreement;

(b) a declaration that the fraudulently induced Settlement Agreement, including the
NDA, is void;

(c) a referral ofAlina Habba and Habba Madaio & Associates to the Office of
Attorney Ethics for ethics violations; and

(d) attorneys' fees and costs of suit pursuant to the New Jersey Law Against
Discrimination. NJ.SA, 10:5-27,1.

SMITH MULLIN, P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff

BY:
"NANCY SMITH

Dated: November 29,2023

13
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VERIFICATION

1. 1 am Alice Bi.mco, the PlainlilT in tin; iibovc captionccl matter.

2. I liavc read the Ibrcgoing Coinplsiinl mul on my own personal knowledge, I know that

the facts set forth herein arc (nic and llicy arc incorporated in this Certification by reference,

1 certify that the foregoing statements nuidc by me arc true. I am aware that if any oflhc

foregoing statements made by me arc willl'ully false, 1 am subject to punishment.

Dated: l) '^'\ ,2023

14



MID-L-006708-23 12/04/2023 Pg1of4 Trans ID: LCV20233530831

SMITH MULLIN, P.C.
Nancy Erika Smith, Esq. (Atty. I.D.#027231980)
240 Claremont Avenue
Montclair, New Jersey 07042
(973)783-7607
Attorneys for Plaintiff

HLED
DEC 04 2023

ALICE BIANCO,

Plaintiff,

V.

LAMINGTON FARM CLUB
TRUMP NATIONAL GOLF

Defendant.

^

l d/b/a
CLUB,

i^.
SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
'©HW6ERY DIVISION:
MIDDLESEX COUNTY
DOCKET NO.: ^ [_- (^ 7 0 E" ^ $

Civil Action

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE SEEKING
TEMPORARY RESTRAINTS, A
PERMANENT INJUNCTION, AND
VOIDING A FRAUDULENTLY
INDUCED SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT

THIS MATTER being brought before the court by Smith Mullin, P.C., attorneys for

Plaintiff, Alice Bianco, seeking summary relief pursuant to N.J.S.A. 2A:23B-5 and Rule

4:67-1 voiding the Settlement Agreement signed by Plaintiff on August 1 1,2021 and

awarding her attorneys' fees based upon the facts set forth in the Verified Complaint filed

herewith and for good cause shown,

It is on this

ORDERED that defendant, Lamington Farm Club d/b/a Trump National Golf Club

,^ A^^c^'
. day ofNoyennber, 2023,

(hereinafter, "Defendant"), appear and show cause before the Superior Court at the ; ; ^ }(/
^ ^.-

.n r\

Middlesex County Courthouse, in New Brunswick, New Jersey at "/ .. ^l' o'clock[pr as
..-1

<?•

soon thereafter as counsel can be heard, on the 0 _ day of ..} ^i-/^-^'

^-u~""-^'-—-

u ,./t.t/fJ
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from taking any action to enforce any settlement with Plaintiff; enjoining Defendant from

any attempt to enforce the illegal NDA contained in that agreement; voiding the fraudulently

induced Agreement, awarding Plaintiff attorneys' fees pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:5-27.1; -and"

^j^eiT4ng^44na-Habba-and4he-fir.m-QfjHabbaJ^adaio-&^*soei^^

.A-ttorney-Ethies; and it is further

ORDERED that:

1. A copy of this Order to Show Cause, Verified Complaint, legal memorandum and

any supporting Affidavits or Certifications submitted in support of this application be served

upon the Defendant via Federal Express within —^ days of the date hereof, in

accordance with Rule 4:4-3 and Rule 4:4-4, this being original process;

^(.('(i-'f/ii).ji(/n:(y'

2. The Plaintiff must file with the Court her proof of service of the pleadings on the
A

Defendant no later than three (3) days before the return date;

V.is.t.v7'f:'HfJit ftUff

3. Defendant shall^file and serve a written response to this Order to Show Cause and the

request for entry ofinjunctive relief and proof of service by \J-s. c i" A/I A.''/? /.^ 2023.

The original documents must be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the County

listed above. A list of these offices is prpvuied. You must send a copy of your opposition
JOSEPH L. REA, J.S.C.

)ers directly to Judge Jsi'sa-M—V-i-gnuQ.k^ whose address is Superior Court of New Jersey,

Zw ^. ^... „ ~. „ . .. , ?.
livision, Middlesex County Courthouse, Chambers-5^1', 56 Paterson Street, New

Brunswiek, New Jersey 08903-0964. You must also send a copy of your opposition papers

to the Plaintiffs attorney. Nancy Erika Smith, Esq., at Smith Mullin, P.C., 240 Claremont

Avenue, Montclair, NJ 07042. A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file

your opposition and pay the required fee of $135.00 and serve your opposition on your

adversary, if you want the court to hear your opposition to the injunctive relief the plaintiff
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is seeking.

^V-^o^\ifli'Y"
4. The Plaintiff mus^file and serve any written reply to the Defendant's Order to Show |

:i^W~"-A^\
Cause opposition by \)snt^ffi --IS _, 2023. The reply papers must be filed

y
with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the County listed above and a copy of the reply

WJM^J-S-C-papers must be sent directly to the Chambers ofJuc

5. If the Defendant does not file and serve opposition to this Order to Show Cause, the

/Afi^
application j^Vhe decided on the papers on the return date and relief may be granted by

default, provided that the Plaintiff files a proof of service and a proposed form of Order at

least three days prior to the return date.

6. If the Plaintiff has not already done so, a proposed form of Order addressing the

relief sought on the return date (along with a self-addressed return envelope with return

address and postage) must be submitted to the court no later than three (3) days before the

return date.

7. Defendant take notice that the Plaintiff has filed a lawsuit against you in the Superior

Court of New Jersey. The Verified Complaint attached to this Order to Show Cause states

nlM/t.y"" t ^ll^

the basis of the lawsuit. If you dispute this Complaint, you, or your attorney, must file a

written answer to the Complaint and proof of service within 35 days from the day of service

of this Order to Show Cause; not counting the day you received it.

fl.teu''(^O.MiC;W'iy/

These documents must be filed with tihe Clerk of the Superior Court in the County listed

above. A list of these offices is provided. Include a $135.00 filing fee payable to the

"Treasurer of the State of New Jersey." You must also send a copy of your Answer to the

Plaintiffs attorney. Nancy Erika Smith, Esq., at Smith Mullin, P.C., 240 Claremont Avenue,
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Montclair, NJ 07042. A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file and serve

your Answer (with the fee) or judgment may be entered against you by default. Please note:

Opposition to the Order to Show Cause is not an Answer and you must file both. Please

note further: if you do not file and serve an Answer within 35 days of this Order, the Court

may enter a default against you for the relief Plaintiff demands.

8. If you cannot afford an attorney, you may call the Legal Services office in the

County in which you live. A list of these offices is provided. If you do not have an attorney

and are not eligible for free legal assistance, you may obtain a referral to an attorney by

calling one of the Lawyer Referral Services. A list of these numbers is also provided.

A.\j^' /•?(•, ^ ft,u'

9. The Court will entertain argument, -&fcifcan.t testimony, on the return date of the Order

to Show Cause., UI4@^^4he-Gourt'^n(^part^es^re~adv^ed-to-l•h"e~c^ntrary^o4ateI-than--..

-days b'ef6retHe-reTum~dMe7

0^ ^-"""
^ A^ J^

—U'SA-M-mNtTOEOTTS-e-

opposed JOSEPH L. REA, J.S.C.

Unopposed

I ,. ,. s . U,,, ^.^fni^L ' "^ )<f ^^'^
.vy/VT" -Hp /v^.-.^.^ ^^l< ^?<;'i;iH( ' '" '"' ^ '"^_,^

^^\ :::;:'^:r;":^;l";[:"'ft" 'r' ^
T:::r^ '^,.:' ^'1^^w. l^iri^ww

1 -/ ,,^ <^-7 ^^/.^ ^-— ^^^ ^ ^ ^ ^^ ^
,^1'J;"^^' ^^ ^ "—M ' 7^1^'^"^ ^ n< s^
bKIL"~^ '^^ '"^z.^ ^". "1^!- ^ "::"^lj'^T^ ^<
'•w-d.- ^':.:~^£ ^ "'t'"^w""'i ^°'}^1^^'-^ ^'
^'^o^/(">^G^}L {'0'^4 .'iw 7"l^^^ ft ^^ 1^ ^<L ^f^ / 'Tl-T ."TI.J,^
°'} l;''"-u'tv"'u^' _^ ^ ^, ^ ^,l.:i^ ft •> '~' '~t'WT" ^'.^^\ j s"i] /• /, A ~TLJ,oM Co'MCW-

^^sh ^^^^fi'v:^^ ^ -rJ7<^J -/ ^ ^^^) -"/"1^ ci'J' ^ j-'-'/u ^-^

^a ^ ^^- ^"-'J "tl^\,<^ ./e.^,^--^/<^^ /)5'5"'^
^ -^ ^^ ^"!pw ^-^••i,-u' R-' ^"r's ^^^^ , ,,^

^rjr^,.^- ^— - ^'57-"^/ (u 7-"51 ^^
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ALICE BIANCO,

Plaintiff,

V,

LAMINGTON FARM CLUB, doing business
as TRUMP NATIONAL GOLF CLUB,

Defendant,

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: MIDDLESEX
COUNTY

Civil Action

BMEF IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE

SMITH MULLIN, P.C,
Nancy Erika Smith, Esq. (Atty ID 027231980)
240 Claremont Avenue

Montclair, New Jersey 07042
(973) 783-7607
Attorneys for Plaintiff

Of Counsel and on the Brief

NANCY ERIKA SMITH, ESQ.
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendant Trump International Golf Club used a lawyer who was, or immediately

became, Donald Trump's personal lawyer to defraud Plaintiff into signing a settlement

agreement which illegally included an NDA, failed to provide the legally-required notice

regarding an NDA, and contained illegal penalties for violating the illegal NDA. Plaintiff

agreed to those provisions and a settlement amount far below the norm because an unethical

lawyer, Alina Habba, pretended to be a "neutral" person who wanted to "help" Plaintiff.

Habba violated numerous ethics rules in encouraging Plaintiff to sign an agreement

favorable to Tnunp which contained illegal provisions silencing Plaintiff. Some of the ethics

violations include, Habba, a lawyer, (1) communicated with a person she knew was

represented by counsel about the subject matter of the representation while actually

representing the mterests of an adverse party; (2) told Plaintiff she was "neutral" when she

got Plaintiff to agree to a settlement favorable to Trump; (3) encouraged Plaintiff to fire her

experienced employment lawyer; (4) told Plaintiff that retaining another lawyer could

jeopardize a settlement; (5) cynically got Plaintiff to sign an agreement drafted by her which

claimed that she and the firm were "neutral" when, in reality, Habba and her firm

represented the interests of defendant and Donald Tmmp; (6) told Plaintiff that she had to

remain silent about the sexual harassment she endured; and (7) got Plaintiff to agree to

illegal penalties for the illegal NDA.

The facts below show that Plaintiff can meet all the factors required for injunctive

relief, that defendant should be enjoined from attempting to enforce the settlement

agreement, and that the settlement agreement should be voided.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Alice Bianco began employment as a server at Trump National Golf Club in

Bedminster, New Jersey on May 12, 2021, when she was 21 years old. (Verified Complaint ^ 2),

Trump National Golf Club is owned by defendant LLC Lamington Farm Club, which is owned by

Donald Trump. (Id. at ]f 7). Soon after Plaintiff began employment, Pavel Melichar, the food and

beverage manager, began to sexually harass Ms. Bianco. Mr. Melichar, who is in his mid-50's,

regularly gave Ms. Bianco very short uniform skirts to wear. A few weeks after she began

employment, Melichar gave Ms. Bianco a bottle ofRemy Martin for her birthday. He began to call

Ms. Bianco into his office and told her that he would "protect her," asking what she was "going to

do for him" as he kissed her. (Id. at ]f]j' 8-10),

Plaintiff tried to avoid his advances, telling him when he told her to go to his office that

she would come in later. On several occasions. Plaintiff asked a friend to call her in order to

intermpt Melichar's harassment. One time, Melichar made Plaintiifsit on his couch and stopped

her from picking up her phone. Other times he told her to answer, but say "I'm busy." Melichar

had control over Ms. Bianco's workplace, and made it clear to her that he could make her life easy

or hard. (Id. at TIT 11-13).

Melichar began to require Ms. Bianco to engage in sex as a quid pro quo for continued

employment and "protection", as he called it. Melichar told Plaintiff that he was powerful and

protected, saying he "runs this place." He showed Plaintiff videos of him with Donald Trump, and

of Donald Trump praising him. Melichar bragged about his closeness to Donald Trump in order

to chill Ms. Bianco from complaining about sexual harassment. (Id. at ^]f 14-16).

From May to July 2021, this quid pro quo sexual harassment continued. In July, Ms. Bianco

learned that a close friend had committed suicide. Ms. Bianco took a week off to go to Alabama
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for the funeral. When she returned to work, Ms. Bianco told Mr. Melichar that she appreciated the

week off. He replied, "what are you going to do for me?" and pulled her face towards his. Ms.

Bianco could not take his forced sexual assaults any longer and pulled away saying: "I don't want

you! I never wanted you! Get away from me!" Melichar immediately began retaliating. He gave

Plaintiff unfair job assignments and allowed his henchmen to abuse her and steal her tips. (Id. at

rr 16-17).

Later in July, Ms, Bianco learned that another female worker at Trump National Golf Club

was preparing a written complaint about the toxic environment at the club and Mr. Melichar's

sexual harassment. When asked, Ms. Bianco told her co-worker about the harassment that she had

endured. Her co-worker wrote a letter she intended to give to Donald Trump's personal staff. (Id-

at j» 18),

The letter was dated July 19, 2021. It stated in part, "I am asking for your support in taking

action against some of the issues fhat have been reoccurring. A few of my concerns are that as a

result of poor managing from higher management, there has been multiple occurrences of sexual

harassment from Pavel Melichar, as well as this job has become a hostile work environment, Pavel

has forced a female server to perform sexual actions with him, and covering it up by stating that

he was protecting her, while paying her and giving her gifts to remain silent. Not only this, Pavel

makes many of the other female servers feel uncomfortable due to comments about their

appearances. I have presented many of these issues, along with others to Pavel and Dave

Schutzenhofer [the Club's general manager], and little to no action has been taken." (Emphasis

added). (Smith Cert., Ex. A). (Verified Complaint, iplf 18-19).

Soon after the letter was delivered, a member of the Human Resources Department in the

New York Trump organization called Ms. Bianco regarding an alleged investigation. Afraid to
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proceed on her own, Ms. Bianco hired an experienced employment lawyer. (Id. at If 20).

Within days of the written notice of the sexual harassment to Trump, Alina Habba

(Reuben), a lawyer who is a member of the club, approached Ms. Bianco pretending to be "a

friend," indicating that she had heard about the sexual harassment complaint, and claiming that

she wanted to "help her". Ms, Bianco told Ms. Habba that she had a lawyer. Rather than comply

with the Rules of Professional Conduct, specifically the prohibition on communicating with a

person who is represented by counsel about the subject of the representation (R.P.C. 4,2), Habba

encouraged Ms. Bianco to fire her lawyer, saying: "you know you call fire [Plaintiffs lawyer at

the time], right?" Ms. Habba, who was clearly working to protect Donald Trump's interests, began

to groom Plaintiff so that she could get Plaintiff to agree to a settlement favorable to Trump. Many

of the communications between Habba and Plaintiff were in text messages beginning on the first

day Habba approached Plaintiff. (Id, at fl*]f 21-22). (Smith Cert., Ex. B).

On that same day, July 28, 2021, Ms. Habba texted Ms, Bianco a disparaging post about

her attorney. Under the link Ms. Habba wrote, "Is this the guy? Be careful." Ms. Bianco responded,

"Omg ur so quick I literally didn't even think to look this up." Ultimately, Ms. Bianco's

relationship with her attorney was poisoned and she was left with no legal representation, as Ms,

Habba wanted. (Id. atffy 25, 30). (Smith Cert., Ex. B, Page 1).

From July 28 through the early weeks of August, 2021, Ms. Habba pretended that she was

Ms. Bianco's friend, frequently calling and texting her, and stating that she only wanted to help.

Habba repeatedly told Plaintiff that she was "neutral" and that she was "just doing this to help two

really good friends" [Plaintiff and Donald Trump]. Ms. Habba repeatedly focused on getting

Plaintiff to sign an NDA, saying "you don't want to go public with this, I've been raped, I can help

you, I can protect you." (Verified Complaint, ^ 21, 28-29).
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Ms. Habba advised Ms, Bianco to fire her experienced lawyer and not to hire another,

saying "attorneys want to take control from you." Habba also did Trump's bidding by letting

Plaintiff know that Habba knew about personal information that defendant would use to embarrass

Ms. Bianco. Habba used this threat to get Plaintiff to accept a ridiculously low settlement and to

keep quiet: "with your past- maybe you can get [a paltry sum]." (Id. at ]f|f 22, 28).

While inducing Ms. Bianco to quickly agree to unconscionable and illegal terms, Ms.

Habba also told Ms. Bianco not to have any other attorney look at it, saying "I'm trying to help

you, you are going to make it more difficult." The settlement agreement includes a clause that

violates N.J.S.A. 10:5-12.8 by prohibiting Ms. Bianco from discussing the underlying facts of the

sexual harassment and completely fails to include language required by that law. (Id. at |f|p 39-40),

(Smith Cert., Ex. C, y 5).

In the agreement Habba presented to Ms. Bianco, the penalty for engaging in behavior

protected by New Jersey law is forfeiture of the entire amount of the settlement and $1000 per day.

(Smith Cert., Ex. C, ff> 9).

Ms. Bianco signed the settlement agreement at Ms. Habba's law office in Bedminster.

CVerified Complaint, ^ 32, 33). Habba told Plaintiff that defendant would pay the taxes on the

settlement amount so she would net the full amount. (Verified Complaint, ]f 33). It was notarized

by Habba's law partner, Michael Maddaio, (Smith Cert., Ex. C, p. 7).

Eight months after she signed the agreement, Ms. Bianco learned that Ms. Habba had not

been truthful about defendant paying the taxes on the settlement amount. On April 10, 2022, Ms.

Bianco texted Ms. Habba saying, "I really appreciate everything you have done for me thus far

and I hate to bother you but there's a few additional information he [Ms. Bianco's uncle, a CPA]
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needs I thought were answered, If you can call him to clear everything I'd really appreciate it and

again I am so grateful for everything you've helped me with already I feel so bad bothering you at

flie recital so you can deal with this tomorrow when you have the chance." Ms, Habba responded

saying, for the first time, and after she had convinced Ms. Bianco to sign the settlement agreement

her firm had drafted, "I cant technically give u legal advice." (Emphasis added). Ms. Habba went

on to say, "Thats the problem, I was happy to find out how ur check was processed but beyond

that im not sure I can assist." However, Ms. Habba again told Plaintiff, falsely, that the club "paid

tax on it so you netted [the full amount of the settlement]."(Smith Cert., Ex. B, pp. 14-16).

On April 14, 2022, Ms. Bianco again texted Ms, Habba saying, "Hit, hope all is well! I

have to talk to you tomorrow but can I FaceTime you?? I'm on a boat lol there's no service!!" Ms.

Habba did not respond to this text. (Smith Cert., Ex. B, p. 17).

The following day, April 15, 2022, Ms, Bianco texted Ms. Habba again, saying, "Hii, is it

possible I can FaceTime you real quick!?" Ms. Habba responded, "I really cant give legal advice."

Ms. Bianco responded, "It's not about legal advice" and went on to say, "I'll just text it, it was my

understanding the taxes were paid but they aren't. Nick zeirkel isn't answering my emails, I've

contacted a few times and no response and I need to get this info cleared by today. I just want you

to call them one more time and confirm the taxes are paid because they deducted social security

and Medicare but I'm still having to pay federal taxes and all the other withholds on the taxes".

Ms. Habba responded, "Yes def something i cant answer[.] And dont know franldy[.] U have to

ask payroll[.] They know[.] I have no clue[.]" Ms. Bianco responded, "They are not

communicating thats the thing[.] I've emailed and called and no response[.j And today's the

deadline", Ms. Habba responded, "Monday [,]15th[.]Il ask them to respond[.]" (Smith Cert., Ex. B,

pp. 18-19). Eventually, Ms. Habba stopped communicating with Ms, Bianco.
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POINT I

PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO AN INJUNCTION ENJOINING DEFENDANT
FROM ATTEMPTING TO ENFORCE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This matter is appropriate for summary action pursuant to R. 4.67-l(b), which provides:

"This rule is applicable,. .(b) to all other actions in Superior Court other than
matrimonial actions and actions in which unliquidated monetary damages are
sought, provided it appears to the court, on motion made pursuant to R. 1:6-3 and
on notice to the other parties to the action not in default, that it is likely that the
matter may be completely disposed of in a summary manner."

R. 4.67-2 allows proceeding by Order to Show Cause.

The seminal case in New Jersey regarding Orders to Show Cause and Preliminary

Injunctions is Crowe v. DeGioia, 90 NJL 126 (1982). Under Crowe, there are four elements

moving parties must prove for the court to grant the relief:

» Irreparable harm would result to the moving party if the relief sought is not

granted;

s The moving party's claims are based on legally settled rights;

» There is a reasonable probability that the moving party will succeed;

• And a balancing of the relative hardships to the parties militates in favor of
granting the moving party equitable relief.

First, Plaintiff is irreparably harmed every day that her statutory right to speak freely

about the sexual harassment she endured is obstructed by fear that defendant will attempt to take

back the settlement proceeds and $1000 per day.

Second, it is settled that the non-disclosure agreement and penalty clause violate

clearly settled rights. The penalty clause contained at Paragraph 9 m the Settlement Agreement
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violates N.J.S.A. 10:5-12.8.

N.J.S.A, 10:5-12.8(a) provides:

a. A provision in any employment contract or settlement agreement which has the
puipose or effect of concealing the details relating to a claim of discrimination,
retaliation, or harassment (hereinafter referred to as a "non-disclosure provision")
shall be deemed against public policy and unenforceable against a current or former
employee (hereinafter referred to as an "employee") who is a party to the contract or
settlement. If the employee publicly reveals sufficient details of the claim so that the
employer is reasonably identifiable, then the non-disclosure provision shall also be
unenforceable against the employer.

b. Every settlement agreement resolving a discrimination, retaliation, or harassment
claim by an employee against an employer shall include a bold, prominently placed
notice that although the parties may have agreed to keep the settlement and
underlying facts confidential, such a provision in an agreement is unenforceable
against the employer if the employee publicly reveals sufficient details of the claim so
that the employer is reasonably identifiable.

Thus, under New Jersey law, NDAs that prevent victims of sexual harassment from

discussing their claims are unenforceable. Therefore, the penalty clause contained in the

Agreement signed by Plaintiff, which requires reimbursement of the entire amount of the

settlement plus $1000 per day if she discusses her claims, is void.

Furthermore, the facts clearly indicate that Plaintiff was defrauded by defendant who

used Ms. Habbato get Plaintiff to sign a settlement agreement with illegal terms and completely

favorable to defendant and Donald Trump, without the benefit of her own attorney.

Third, based on the facts, including the damning text messages by Habba, which show a

pattern of deception and fraud in communications with Plaintiff, there is a likelihood that

Plaintiff will prevail on the merits.

Fourth, Plaintiff is harmed every day that her statutory rights are violated. Defendant has

already benefited from its fraud by silencing Plaintiff for more than two years.
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POINT 11

THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT SHOULD BE
VOIDED BECAUSE IT WAS INDUCED BY FRAUD

Defendant engaged in fraud in misrepresenting the role Alina Habba played in obtaining

Plaintiffs consent to an unconscionable and illegal settlement agreement.

"The five elements ofcommon-law fraud are: (1) a material misrepresentation of a

presently existing or past fact; (2) knowledge or belief by the defendant of its falsity; (3) an

intention that the other person rely on it; (4) reasonable reliance thereon by the other person; and

(5) resulting damages." Gennari v. Weichert Co. Realtors, 148 N.J. 582, 610 (1997). In Geimari,

the court found the defendants liable for fraud, holding, "Alien and Ellen knew that Alien's

experience and qualifications were not as they represented. They induced the purchasers to rely

on their representations that Alien had many years of experience, finished construction on

schedule, and was a craftsman. None of the statements was true. The purchasers, however, relied

on those misrepresentations to their detriment." Id,

In the present case, Ms. Habba held herself up as a neutral party helping Ms. Bianco.

However, Ms. Habba knew this was a lie and that she was secretly working to advance the

interests of defendant and Donald Tmmp. Ms. Bianco relied to her detriment on Habba's

representations that she was a friend and a neutral party.

Had Habba actually been a neutral party, she had two ethical courses of action. She could

have contacted Plaintiffs lawyer in an attempt to act as a neutral mediator in die case, or she could

have contacted Plaintiffs lawyer and said that she had contacts in the Trump operation with whom

she could attempt to facilitate a negotiation. Habba did neither of these things. Instead, she

encouraged Ms. Bianco to fire her attorney, to refrain from hiring another attorney, and to

acquiesce in being silenced, which is illegal in New Jersey. (Verified Complaint, [ff 22-23,28,33,
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34, 40).

Working secretly to help defendant and Donald Trump, Ms. Habba fraudulently induced

Ms. Bianco to agree to a paltry settlement for a quid pro quo sexual harassment case and included

in the settlement agreement drafted by her law firm illegal terms that violate New Jersey law about

non-disclosure agreements. In arranging this, Ms. Habba met Plaintiff in Habba's car at defendant

golf club. She told Ms. Bianco that defendant, would pay her [a paltry sum], all she would have to

do was leave her employment and sign a "simple" NDA. Habba manipulated Plaintiff, saying she

would make sure that Ms. Bianco was "protected," as long as she complied with the NDA. Habba

falsely told Ms. Bianco that she would have to "abide by the NDA." Habba also claimed that

Plaintiff was "technically getting more than [the settlement amount] because the club will pay the

taxes." Acting secretly on behalf of defendant and Donald Trump, Habba pressured Ms, Bianco,

who was unrepresented by counsel, to sign a settlement agreement with a paltry payment and an

illegal NDA by saying "you have to do this now", telling her to "sign by the end of the week."

There was never any indication that Ms. Habba attempted to negotiate on behalf of Ms. Bianco

beyond the original paltry sum that Ms, Habba had suggested from the beginning. (Id. at ^jf 37,

27, 28, 33, 38,28).

While representing the interests of Donald Trump, Ms. Habba defrauded Ms. Bianco into

signing an agreement drafted by her and/or someone at her law firm. Michael Madaio, Ms. Habba's

law partner, notarized the settlement agreement. The Agreement cynically stated: "The Parties

acbiowledge that neither party was represented by counsel and that this Agreement was prepared

by a neutral attorney representing neither party." (Smith Cert., Ex. C, f 10),

Eventually, Habba made it clear that she was done with Ms. Bianco. Habba had lied to

Plaintiff, Ms. Bianco did have to pay taxes on her settlement; she did not "net" the full settlement

10



MID-L-006708-23 11/30/2023 12:53:06 PM Pg 14 of 15 Trans ID: LCV20233503611

amount. Then Plaintiff found out that Habba was involved m silencing and attacking other women

on behalf of her client, Donald Trump, and realized that she had been defrauded by Habba. (Id. at

?50,51).

In addition to inducing Plaintiff into accepting a settlement amount significantly lower

than the norm under these facts, Habba induced Plaintiff to give up her rights under the LAD.

Clearly, Habba was seeking to protect defendant and Donald Trump by focusing on silencing

Plaintiff. Despite the fact that NDA's are not enforceable in New Jersey, Habba told Ms. Bianco

that she was "protected" as long as she complied with the NDA.

In contravention to N.J.S.A^ 10:5-12,8(a), the agreement Ms. Habba presented to Ms.

Bianco forces Ms. Bianco to conceal all details relating to her "claim of discrimination,

retaliation, or harassment." The penalty clause requiring Plaintiff to return all the settlement

proceeds and to pay a $1000 per day penalty has and will continue to chill Ms. Bianco in the

exercise of her rights.

Ms. Habba fraudulently induced Ms. Bianco to give up her rights and to enter into a

settlement which is unconscionable. Plaintiffs rights are violated every day that she is afraid to

speak about her harassment for fear of draconian and illegal penalties.

Finally, Plaintiff should be allowed to keep the paltry settlement proceeds she was induced

to accept in exchange for leaving her employment more than two years ago.

11
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CONCLUSION

Plaintiff respectfully requests that this court enjoin defendant from attempting to enforce

the non-disclosure agreement, void the settlement agreement but allow Ms. Bianco to keep the

settlement money, and give Ms. Bianco back her voice. Additionally, the Court should refer this

matter to the Office of Attorney Ethics regarding Ms. Habba's unethical behavior and award

Plaintiffs attorneys' fees.

SMITH MULLIN, P.C,

NAl^CY ERIKA SMITH
Attorney for Plaintiff

Dated: f!/^f, 2023

12
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SMITH MULLIN, P.C.
Nancy Erika Smith, Esq. (Atty. ID 027231980)
240 Claremont Avenue
Montclair, New Jersey 07042

(973)783-7607
Attorneys for Plaintiff'

ALICE BIANCO,

Plaintiff,

V,

LAMINGTON FARM CLUB d/b/a
TRUMP NATIONAL GOLF CLUB,

Defendant.

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION: MIDDLESEX COUNTY
DOCKET NO.:

Civil Action

CERTIFICATION OF NANCY EMKA
SMITH IN SUPPORT OF ORDER
TO SHOW CAUSE

NANCY ERIKA SMITH hereby certifies as follows:

1. I am a Partner with Smith Mullin, P.C., attorneys for Plaintiff, in the above-

captioned matter. As such, I am fully familiar with the facts set forth herein.

2. This Certification is submitted in support of Plaintiff s Order to Show Cause.

3, Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a copy of a letter written by an employee of

the Trump National Golf Club regarding sexual harassment at the Club. The name of the

employee is redacted in order to avoid the well-documented abuse Donald Trump and his

supporters engage in toward women who speak out about sexual harassment or wrongdoing

by Trump.

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit B are text messages between Alina Habba

(Reuben) and Plaintiff.
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5. Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a copy of the Settlement Agreement executed

by Alice Bianco at the Habba Madaio & Associates, LLP law firm on August 1 1, 2021, with

the amount of the settlement redacted, Since the amount of settlement is not "an underlying

fact," unless and until the entire agreement is voided, Plaintiff has redacted the amount,

I certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true. I am aware that if any of

the foregoing statements made by me are willfully false, I am subject to punishment,

NANCY ERIKA SMITH

Dated: November ^ 2023
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6:29

ve! Its Alina I wanted to check on

(Mrs. Reuben ;)

itNl^Mt

1430 U S Hig hway_2Q6.Becl m instei- nj

Thaffk^W^Sa you 98@nml

Attorney Jaincs Burden of
Mnntclair, NJ; ethical dwaft

Is this the quy? Be careful

Omg ur so quick I literally didn't even
think to look this up
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6:30

Hi Mrs Reubtn:) im sorry it took m© a
few days to get back to you, so I
talked to Vivianna about everything
and she realty has had my back in
getting me not only legal help for this
situation but mental health help,
that's why it took me a few days
because I just went to my first
therapy session because of all this. I
really wish I had worked with you, but
Vivianna reminded me that it was
good I talked to this ottier attorney
because the administration reached
out to me the day after. If you're
interested in consulting in my lawyers
I'd realty appreciate that, since Trump
has multiple lawyers it isn't a bad idea
for me to have multiple attorneys to
figure out how to best handle this
situation. I love you so much and

appreciate you for revisiting this
situation and offering to help. You're
such a role model to me and as much
as I want you to be my lawyer, I just

feel too bad pulling away from my
other people because they put a lot
of work already in helping me in this. I
love you I know you said it's all love at
the end of the day and I really do
appreciate you thank you so much
Mrs Reuben

And if you are interested in consulting

a -ill ^ ^n
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6:30

^Ifj^Syu
my^tte^i
can ^Rt^^NMa'iwtffmW^
you ladies can discuss whet's Qolng

hji I'm so sorry to bother you, cAn you
pleas6T£|ti ms wh^n y&u Qst a
chance?

yk why Igutffiy pno^^sn^isttN^
senstiso ft®Ffy^^l8iftTSNN>&y$l
gonnatry^sjinfti^ljMQKWitlW
befor& 11 I'm really tryihQ

hii, call me when you are free:)

Ok! Shortly!

No rush !

hey babe! I'm on the way should we
meet in the parking lot?!

on my way,

parking lot, Jus
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6:30

Matte black g wagon

B$aut]W*fi ^0 min$ I'll see you wn
^ drive safe!

Perfect

hiil I'm atv^Qrkrri JJusrtwaot6(Ct|,
;-A-';-,S.- i.'Jf^' i :'.',^'it*-^'"- ir*"-^fc<^'u'<«''.trfi.i"'r*-'ti.£';'^.

updcits'
saijEtiijoy'nfii
texted me ^s. morning an<NreI
me?? LMFAOO I don't get It but
whatever

Ok in mtq!

how'd everything go?M
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6:30

alaerv^gBF^
m8,mNi?

Done!

UQh I. love y@u so my^^.i^

Amazing see u tn

01. d I I uc

Position

4(m here rWM^

Yayyyy®

Alice Marie Bianco
Started: May 12,20£1

*•• (I?"
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6:30

Got it

B^?t friend Hi

Ok tomorrow what time works?

Ok il keep u posted,

QkayH

Hahaha

Omg yes ^ ofc you called when my
phone died LOU

Ok lets go through it before work

Come to my office 3

1430 US Hj.ghway_2Q6 suite 240
hprlminQ+pr

* • ^ t
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6:30

Habba Madaio & Assoc

gteasWSIt ne {arotil^m1 ^^,
so6n.:]F

hiiU'm likf^Q mjns 9W^U sorry Q
Funnjn@-ti?|i t^feswf^Wf ^

No worries im

othes loo

hti Mrs ReyOen;} tA^6t&-b&thery<$y
but I have a auiek question cail me
when you get a chance!

Sure whats up im free

I never got it

Give me 30 on a call

Okay no problem!!

•iCash m "I(t-li- ^6, /K

8
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6:30

mrisr

aicmi c.ie

welt-wlth^

U too!

Im getting it for LI i spoke to them

No worries

Ok
Got it

Beautiful thank you so much {M' I can
meet you whenever you're ready :)

t love you so sorry in the city my car

9
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6:30

l love you so!
gOtsta^nlffl
whtn itm bacN

'{ftthesttymye^^
tiahfllStm-imtU

Oh shit

K check is at my
Office

Im cjoincj away but gr.

Bsautifyl I'll stop byl6ter if Cm-aroynd
the same time you are just waNng^Sfr
the pollee for ttiis-pspDrt fhgy're
taking forevsrrr

No preblem

We luckily found my car in Brooklyn
lol crazy dayl Anyways I'm gonna
pick it up now then go home and
come to you hopefully before 5:)

hey so I finally got everything
situated it took a super duper long
time I'm gonna get home at 4 Idk if I'll
make it to your office by 51 might just
make it if anything would you want to
meet tomorrow or today anywhere
you'd be?

«l ^'

10



MID-L-006708-23 11/30/2023 12:53:06 PM Pg 12 of 21 Trans ID: LCV20233503611

6:31

hfiNeM

flrtie M WW^ ^jttf St 4 m^
make it to yflujif office ^S.l rnigl'a ju$t
make it if Wliftg woujdyoy w§nt tt»
mi^tii^^tewtNliiy^^
you'd N?

taff has it im
in los anqeles tomorrow

Okay! geaytifut havtfttaf9 til9tl|Nt
a fun iri|®lh^^^^ wsr^HNr
aQairiS^ "''

Oil ur so welcome

Omg the gifts!!!! My assistant
facetimeci me! Im clvin?) yo1.' sre so
sweet, I LOVE THE PIC

Ahhhh yay I'm so glad you like them
^^i®'""'" I just wanted to

show you how much I appreciate
everything I! You really are the best!
Friends forever xoxooo'

ln+ +h?ink 11 fnr thnt

^ rn

11
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6:31

That meant a lot thank LI for that

It's tNfcIl^^il'i^in^io glad
y^'UWJte|t®|ftiia^l^h»^^
Showifftl «^|yfhtft|&flt •(Fi 8000^ Q|l^
u iites!itb|k^||%hil( temiMB^fflwaf:
youHi fvn- •• •<»

She did! Its all awesome

So me

Ahhhh^im.ailj^^r^^;
ths.rruriinl

I love little things lot ®?®

Awesome me too

Yayy so glad ^ ® thank you again
and I hope you have fun in LA<

Hi! Just thought bout you I hope
you're doing good ,~

0 A
12
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6:31-f

Papa B Iphone
Water?

Hi stranger! How are you';

gist iyr»eh86Wlm»<ncTcateit u^

Hit Mf»Re8&lnlSm^&^^
to y^QtfyiNrWlyH NW#NH

Loveyouul!'

Hii, how are you? Hope all is well®

I have a quick question when you
have a second!

0 A
13
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6:31-f

Ni^^fl^^'t^ft^ll^^
but wmn hatfi wsn^ I Fitseertts
piGteupsQf^^pew^l^rvi^^
hope S1I iirwiH ^

Callinc) now

Hi, I just wanted 1to ^ay it w^ rgalty
nice eatGhlngypiWl^ y^|jig|^J
I'm gQltl8<iv?^3h®!6r^§
^on^yWa^<|BI^Pi8|W(i
back (e^'s gVMlPimliin^

Hey when you get a second can you
call me for a quick second??

Can u cjive me a ring in the morning?
Im at a recital

Aww that's so cool!! & yes, I'll be
flying in the morning so maybe closer
to noon? Is that okav

ttCash '©>} •II]

14
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6:31

AwwNt<s,^^l;{tkly8i,<tirbe :-r
flying tn.th^^K|fNtng[fi9 maYl38<;l(W
to noon? Is ttngt Qteay

I have court

What do u nee

Or email

Whatever

Perfe^M I oen ®rrua9 iE@iy,^t^n-lt||^
you myCPAunGll^riurftber^l'^lI^
appreciate everythtrte you have M^
for me thus far snci I hate to bother
you but there's a few ad'difional
information he needs I thought were
answered. If you can call him to elear
everything I'd really appreciate it and
again I am so grateful for everything
you've helped me with already I feel
so bad bothering you at the recital so
you can deal with this tomorrow
when you have the chance®

echnicdly yive it leydl cidvicc

Thats the problem

15
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6:31

I cant technically give u legal advice

s happy to find out how ur check
was. process!

not sure i can assist

Oh they said payroll

And they paid tax on it so LI netted
1F)k

All the tax?

-ike payroll

So however that was processed for u

Same

Okay, I might've misunderstood. I still
have to pay taxes on this

Its on ur tax form from the company

U shoild call trump bedmifist..er

16
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6:31

Its on ur tax form from the company

U shoild G£

Or whoever nerson was

Q^y%^
wHHiil
situat^ltQT

Call trump beclminster HR or whoever

stions they would know

not legal questions

That's all the- info I nftefied llisrtk ^(
very much for everytNrig n Hope ttie
recital goes well and can't wait to see
you when I get back w w

Thanks love

Hii, hope alt is well! I have to talk to
you tomorrow but can I FaceTime
you ?? I'm on a boat lot there's no
service!!

coy •umiR-tn- ^ CR)
17
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6:31

Oh ok

yoa f? l-'m ®h a iaQBt lol.tKerfiSs no
service!!

Mil, is it p068ible 1 can FaceTime you
real quick}?

y legal ndvic

It's not about legal advice

I'll just text it, it was to my
understanding the taxes were paid
but they aren't. Nick zeirkel isn't
answering my emails, I've contacted
a few times and no response and I
need to get this info cleared by today.
I just want you to call them one more
time and confirm the taxes are paid
because they deducted social
security and Medicare but I'm still
having to pay federal taxes and all the
other withholds on the taxes

Yes clef something i cant answer

\nc\ dont know frankly

18
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6:31

Yes del so u i cant answc.'i

And dont know frankly

no clue

They-m not eWWiCQtjng with ET^
thatsihe'ttfljft ,^'-: '?

l)v»^0^||^(^WW
response''" ^ -^ • • "' '^;^^'"

And today's the deadlloe

Monday

II ask them to respond

Thank you I realty do appreciate that!

Done

You're the best!!! Thank you so much
ur an actual Angela M M

I am on vacation and have absolutely
no service in the middle of the oce^n

®. ij3

19
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6:32

Done

You'rfttN® 6WW TSflmfc^y SQ mueb-
ur an aetuat^ftset^ w^

l am en vaci^n an^th^&bN^lsfc
no sorvtce In W mtefdfe't»fthe6e^lft
LOL so. tel! ttWm to coptaet me via
email t

Hi, t'mteask frei'n v^catiQn and^fmjfi

my^w^
i3yin.8is(?i?^
pape^?l^?^vitlwftjir^^

Coordinate witt'

Okay that's perfect" I can swing by
Thursday it'il be nice to see you^^i

Ok ask randee though to gt copies

Okay!

liCash '^K

20
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CONFH&ENTIAL SEVERANCE AND RELEASE AGRE1EMENT

This Confidential Severance and Release Agreement (this "Agre^nent"), dated as of the
last date set forth below (the "Effective Date"), is entered into by and between Lamington Farm
Club and its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and related companies (collectively, "EmQloyer") and
Alice Marie Bianco ("EmplQyee"), individually referred to as each "Party" and collectively as the
"Parties."

This Agreement is entered into with reference to the following facts and recitals, which are
tme to the best offhe Parties' kinowledge and belief, and are made part of this Agreement:

WHEKEAS, on or about May 12,2021, Employee was Nred by Employer to serve in the
position of server,

WGQEREAS> the Parties mutually deny all allegations of wrongdoing, but desire to settle
any potential or outstanding disputes, differences and/or claims fully and fmally, wifhout any
further legal action, finding offset, or admission of liability.

WKERIEAS, the Parties agree that it is in the mutual interests to sever their employer-
employee relationship as of August 15, 2021 and to resolve the matters and disputes which exist
or may exist between them, as well as all other claims, actions,, or disputes, whether known or
unkaown, on the terms set forth in this Agreement,

NOW, THEKEIORE, in consideration of and for valuable consideration, covenants and
pronaises contained herein, and for otlwr good and valuable consideration,, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby aolcnowledged, the Parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. No AcBMumott. This Agreement and compliance with this Agreement shall not be
construed as an admission by Employer of any liability whatsoever, or as an admission by
Employer of any violation of the rights of Employee or any person, or any violation of any order,
law, statute, duty, or contract whatsoever against Employee or any other person. Employer
specifically denies and disclaims any liability to Employee or any other person, in contract, tort or
otherwise, for any alleged violation oftiie rights ofBmployee or any person, or for any alleged
violation of any order, law, statute, duty, or contract on the part of Employer or aay of its owners,
members, officers, directors, executives, representatives, managers, and/or employees. Nothing
contained in this Agt-eement shall be construed as an admission of liability, wrongdoing, or
misconduct on the part of Employer or any of its present, former, and future parents, subsidiaries,
affiliates, owners, members, officers, directors, executives, representatives, managers, and/or

employees.

2. r®rmBMa$B®B>off_EiiaDll®vni®mt, Employee's employment with Employer shall be deemed
terminated as of August 15, 2021 (the "Tem-umtkm Date"). Employee shall be paid her salary,
less tax withholdings and other appropriate deductions, through and until the Termination Date.
Notwifhstaading the Payment defmed in Section 3, Employee expressly acknowledges, waives
and agrees that she is not entitled to any additional compensation, benefits or bonuses from
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Employer after the Termination Date, including, without limitation, salary, vacation, bonuses,
stock, stock options, health care continuation coverage or any other compensation or benefits,

3. Pavmemt to Eiaapiavee- In consideration of, and in return for, the promises and covenants

contained herein. Employer shall deliver to Employee the sum of Dollars
I (the "Payment"). The Payment shall be delivered via wire payment, direct deposit

or check payable to Employee withui fifteen (15) business days of the Effective Date.

4. General tmd Snecial Keiease. For consideration of the Payment and the mutual promises
and covenants contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby expressly
acknowledged. Employee, for herself, and each of her present, former, and fuhu'e heirs, executors,
administrators, partners, co-obligors, co-guarantors, guarantors, sureties, fainily members,

spouses, attorneys, insurers, agents, represenlatives, predecessors, successors, assigns, and all

those who claim through her or could claim through her, unconditionaUy and irrevocably remises,
waives, satisfies, releases, acquits, and discharges Employer, and each of its present, former, and
future parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors, assigns, assignees, owners,

members, officers, executives, directors, managers and employees (whether acting in such capacity
or individually), attorneys, representatives, heu's, executors, or adnumstrators (the "Released
Parties"), from and against any and all past, present and future claims, counterclaims, actions,
causes of action, set-offs, demands, controversies, or liabilities of any nature, wliether known or
imlcno-wn or capable of being hiown, arising at law or in equity, by right of action or otherwise,
including, but uot lunited to, suits, debts, accounts, bills, compensation, damages, judgments,
executions, warranties, expenses, claims, and demands whatsoever that Employee, or her

attorneys, agents, representatives, predyueiisujfs, successors, and assigns have or may have against

the Released Parties, for, upon, or by reason of any matter, cause, or thing, whatsoever, in law or

equity, including, without limitation, any claim or came of action for wrongful termination,
impairment of ability to compete m the open labor market, breach of an express or implied contract,
breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud,
misrepresentation, defamation, slander, negligent mfliction of emotional distress, infliction of
emotiona.1 distress, discrunination, harassment, misconduct, hostile work environment, retaliation,
disability, loss of future earnings, impairment of economic opportunity, any claim under common-
law or at equity, any tort, claims for reimbwsemeuts, claims for commissions, or any claim or
cause of action made or which could have been made by Employee against the Released Parties
arising from her employment with Empioy<?:t'> her business or personal relations with the Released
Parties, and/or her subsequent scparation/termination from Employer, includmg any claun for pay,
bonus, severance, or other benefits apart from the benefits stated hcrcm, or claims for employment
discrinunation under any state, federal and local law, statute, or regulation or claims related to any
ofher restriction, including without limitation, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended; fhe Americaus with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended; the Human Rights Act, as
Amended; fhe Age Discrimmation in Employment Act, as amended; the Family and Medical
Leave Act of 1993, as amended; and corresponding state and local anti-discriaunatio.n laws, as
applicable, including but not limited to the human rights, civil rights, employment anti"
discrimination laws, and family and medical leave laws of the State of New Jersey, as amended.
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5, Conildemtialitv. Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written
consent of Employer, disclose, describe or characterize to any person or entity: (i) the terms or
existence offtus Agreement; (ii) any iafomiation or evidence elicited or exchanged m relation to
this Agreement; or (iii) any underlying facts, informatioa, disputes, differences, clauas or
allegations arising from or relating in any way to Empioyee''s employment with Employer or her
relations with the Released Parties, whether business, personal, or otherwise. Employee may only
disclose the contents or terms of the Agreement to her accountants and the Internal Revenue
Service for purposes of reporting the transactions contemplated herem, or if otherwise compelled
by a court of law. The confidentiality provision is a material terms of this Agreement, breach of
which will cause Employer irreparable harm. If Employee is required by an appropriate order of a
competent court of law to disclose the terms of this Agreement to individuals other than those set
forth herein, she shall notify Employer, in writing, at least fifteen (15) days prior to such disclosure.
The terms of this Section shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

6. Nou-Bisnaraeemeat Employee agrees and covenants fhat she shall refrain from aH
conduct, verbal or otherwise, that disparages or damages or that could reasonably be foreseen to
disparage or damage the reputation, goodwill, or standing in fhe industry of Employer or any of
the Released Parties including, but not limited to, malcmg, publishing, or comtnumoating to any
person or entity, or b any public forum, any defamatory, damaging, harmful, offensive, or
disparaging remarks, comments, or statements concerning Employer or any of the Released Parties
or their business, or any of their existing or prospective customers, members, associates, investors,
and ofher associated third parties, now or in the future, The terms of this Section shall survive any
termmation of this Agreement.

7. Nou-Imitelrifei'ence amd Nom-SoBiciitation. Employee agrees that fhat for a. period of two (2)
years from the Effective Date, she will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as an employee,
officer, manager, director, consultant, contractor, vendor, partner, joint venturer, agent, or equity

owner, m any capacity whatsoever, for her own benefit or for the benefit of any person, entity,
partnership, venture or business, interfere with, dismpt, divert or take away, the business of
Employer, moluding, without limitation; (i) intei-fermg with, disturbing or disrupting or attempting
to interfere with, disturb or dismpt any of Employer's past, present or fiiture business activities or
existing or potential contractual relationships, including, but not limited to, clients, customers,
members, associates, partners, investors, consultants, vendors;, contractors, employees, officers,

managers, directors, members or owners, (ii) solicitmg, hiring, inducmg, engaging, negotiatmg
with, partnering witih, meeting with or attempting to solicit, hire, mduce, engage, negotiate with,
partner with or meet with any of Employer's existing or potential contractual relationships,
including, but not limited to, clients, members, customers,, partners, investors, consultants,
vendors, consultants, contractors, employees, officers, managers, members or owners, and (iii)
deriving any benefit, in any mamer, from any commercial or business relationship or contemplated
commercial or business relationship with any of Employer's existing or potential clients, members,
customers, partners, investors, consultants, vendors, consultants, contractors, employees, officers,

managers, members or ovimers. The terms of tUs Section shall survive any termination of this
Agreement.

8. EreaeIL Dsuaaa&®s andSa®^®ss ^ &itber Party fails to perform. any offhe covenants as
set forth m ftis Agreement, or otherwise breaches any material representation, covenant or
warranty under this Agreement, the other Party may pursue any and all legal or equitable remedies
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available in a court of law, In such an action, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award for
retmbursemeut of any and all attorneys'' fees, expenses and costs incurred by the prevailing party
in furtherance of pursuing or defending the action. As set forth m Section 9, additional remedies
shall be available to Employer for any breach by Employee of the covenants contained in Sections
5,6 or 7.

9, Imlmetw® Relief. Employee acknowledges that a breach of any of the covenants contained
in Sections 5, 6 or 7 will result in material, irreparable injury to Employer for which there is no
adequate remedy at law and that it wiU not be possible to measure damages for such injuries
precisely. Without limiting any other remedies available to Employer, in the event of such a breach
or threat thereof, Employer shall be entitled to obtaio a temporary restraining order, preliminary
injunction, and/or permanent mjunction against Employee restraining her &om engaging h the
conduct that is resulting in the breach(es) of Sections 5, 6 or 7 without the necessity of proving
irreparable harm or injury as a result of such breach or threatened breach. In addition, without
limiting any other equitable relief available to Employer, in the event that it is determined by a
competent court of law that Employee did in fact jiEeaefe-a.Q^of her obligations set forth m Sections
5,6 or 7, Employee shall be required to retyml&el'a^mentji?) Employer withm seven. (7) days and

j^mplflyer shall be entitled to additional equilable relief in the amount of One Thousand Dollars
(^($1,000.00) for each day of the applicable violation p5no3;^mployer shall also be entitled to

recover from "Employeesuiy and all ^stsandesqiensesTmcluding reasonable attorneys fees,
incim'ed in its efforts to enforce its rights under this Agreement. Notwifhstanding any provision to
fhe contraiy, any applicable restriction period contained in Sections 5, 6 or 7 shall be tolled during
any period of violation of any of the covenants of Sections 5,6 or 7 and during the period of any
litigation during which Employer seeks to enforce the coveamts if it is ultimately determined that
Employee was in breach of any of the covenants of Sections 5,6 or 7.

10. Waiver ofBfehtito HmdiepiendeN Coums®!. The Parties expressly acknowledge and. agree
that Ifae provisions of this Agreement are fair and equitable. The Parties aclmowledgefr-thsTHeitojts

was represented by counsel and that this Agreement was prepared by(a neutral attorney
'representing neither party. Each Party acknowledges that it has been advised to dBlauaMgpKaaeht
legal counsel, that it has voluntarily refused and/or waived its right to consult with an attorney and
that it has read and understands the contents and legal effect of Ms Agreement. The Parties
acknowledge that the neutral attorney is acting for the sole purpose of drafting fhe Agreement of
the Parties and that the neutral attorney is released from any and all responsibility or liability in
connection with the drafting of this Agreement and. any potential consequences arising therefrom.

11. ICnowma aiffid Voluiatai-v _^sg®?t. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement is
^ecuted voluntarily by each of them, without any duress or undue influence on. the part of, or on
behalf of any of them and that they waive any right to rescind or set aside this Agreement, except
on the finding fhat tbere has been an actual misrepresentation knowingly made by the other Party
with intent to defraud. Further, the Parties verify that they are of the legal age and mental
competency required to enter into m this Agreement.

12. T&'s.Tyestimemt Employer makes no representations as -to the tax treataient of the Payment
called for in Section 3, and Employee acknowledges that she is not relying on any statement or
representation of Employer in Ms regard. Employee agrees to pay any taxes that may be due as a
result of the Payment.

js y-., ^ \- ,./ Page 4 of 8
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13. Goveraiin^Law. This Agreement, includmg any rights, remedies or obligations provided
for hereunder, shall be governed by the laws of the State of New Jersey and construed mid enforced
in accordance with the laws oflfaat state. Jurisdiction and venue shall be solely within the state or
federal courts of New Jersey and any action, suit or litigation shaU be exclusively brought therem.

14. (Costs. Each Party shall bear its own costs in. connection with this Agreement, wid the
Parties waive and release any claims they otherwise have or may have had to such costs and
attorneys' fees.

15, iConstriBdiom off Aereemeut. This Agreement shall be construed as a whole according to
its fair meaning and as if fhe Parties jointly prepared it. Any uncertainty or ambiguity in the
Agreement shall not be sti'ictly interpreted or constmed agaiust any Party.

16. No Qra| ModificffitiiOM. This Agreement shall not be altered, amended, or modified by oral
representation made before or after the execution of this Agreement. All modifications must be in
writing and duly executed by all Parties.

17, R<>pr®§®]ntfflfiOTS, and IiiideimimificatioMs. The Parties represent and warrant to each other
that each is the sole and lawful owner of all right, title and interest in and to every claim and other
matter that each releases aad/or waives in. this Agreement and that 1hey have not previously
assigned or transferred, or purported to do so, to any person or other entity any right, title or interest
in any such claim or other matter. In the event that suoh representation is false and any such claim
or matter is asserted against any Party by anyone who is the assignee or transferee of such a claim
or matter, then the Party who assigned or transferred such claim or matter shall fully indemnify,
defend and hold harmless the Party against wliom such claim or matter is asserted and its
successors from and against such claim or matter and from ati actual costs, attorneys' fees,
expenses, liabilities and damages that feat Party and its successors incur as a result of the assertion
of such claim or matter.

18. §®SwaM!t^' ^ any provision of the Agreement or the application thereof is held invalid
by a court, arbitrator, or government agency of competent jurisdiction, the Parties agree that such
a determination of invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Agreement
which can be given effect without the invalid provisions and thus shall remain in full force and
effect or application.

19. Successws amd Assigns. This Agreement shall bind and inure to tihe benefit of the parties
and fheir respective successors, assigns, adnuoistrative agents, heirs and estate, as the case may

be. No party may assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any Ifaird party wifhout
the prior consent of the other parties hereto; prcivjded, that the Corporation may assign its rights
hereunder to its lenders without the prior consent of the parties hereto.

20. • 1'imal amd ISBBidms Agire®Biffl®Bif. The Parties acknowledge that fhis Agreement is a full and
final accord and satisfaction and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and
their respective heirs, executors, administrators, agents, representatives^ successors, and assigns,

21. ECTtire.Aaireeniemifc This Agreement constitutes a single, integrated, written contract
expressing the entire understanding and agreement between fhe Parties, and the terms of the
Agreement are contractual and not merely recitals. No other agreement, written or oral, expressed

•T\ .1
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or implied, exists between the parties with respect to fb.e subject matter of this Agreement, and the
Parties represent that no promise, inducement or other agreement not expressly contained in this
Agreement has been. made coafemng any beQefit upon them.

22. Notices. All notices, requests, consents and other commumcatious shall be in -writing and
be deemed given when delivered personally, by email with confirmation or when received if
mailed by first class registered or certified mail, postage prepaid.

23. Couatarrmrts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original mstrument» but. all of which together shall constitute one
instrument.

24. He^diB^ and Captions. The headings and captions inserted into this Agreement are for
convenience only and in no way define, limit or otherwise describe the scope or intent of this
Agreement, or any provision hereof, or in any way affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

[Signature Page to Follow}
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W WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this document to be executed as
of the last day set forth below,

LAMINOTON FARM CLUB

"I!

\'-

>_-..-•"

Name:

7 n^. >--</ / / / ^-1o////..^
3y:_^^ _„.„...._„_„ Date:^,;L/ i. i ^

!' .... ; '..• ....

3: t^iA/<!-'" t^-€^A/^7

Tide: ^X:;(A?{ hlailt^^L

STATE OF /^ ^r^lf )
) ss,

COUNTY OF fo^^e-f )

On this /{ day of ,_^(/\ ^^, _ in the year 2021, before me, t^e undersigned, a notary
public iiTandTfor said state^pCTsranaUy^peaied _ [)^f4 ^^ SM>W ^s f-<r personally icnown to
be or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/fhey executed the same
iti his/her/theix capacity, and that by his/her/their signahire on the instniment, the individual, or the
person or entity upon b?)ialf of "which the individual acted, executed the instmmexrt.

Notary Public"

M^U/1 ^^' s^.
Mtur^ ^ L^, 5^ ^ ^6- r^
&r Ah. Q707^^'-
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this document to be executed as
of the last day set forth below.

ALICE MARIE BlANCO

.'! i /

By^^M.iALlLLli^ Date: ;;i;-1 i i
•^J^—W:.^..—H^.-: "••-t-"'.'

Name: M-1 uxMLuLllAlluUl

A.CKNOWLEJDG.MENT

ss.

STATE OP y[^.J^(/ )
)

COUNTY OF ^(f^r )

On this _LL. day of A^i\^c'^_ m the year 2021, J)efore me, the undersigned, a notaiy
public inandibr said state, personally appeared _y4('l<? /^<f't ^(ww personally Itnown to
be or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same
in his/her/their capacity, and that by his/her/fheir signature on the instrument, the individual, or the
person or entity upQn behalf of which tbe individual acted, executed the instrument.

Notary Py6lk/-"

/4^e( T. /^^ ^.
^r^ ^ t^<^ <>hH ^ M^ Jrw

&r M. 07o7^^ 13

7

i L.'" Page 8 of 8


